# THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

٧.

VERNE JACKSON, Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR COWLITZ COUNTY

**OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT** 

JAN TRASEN Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2711

##

C.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE					
D.	ARGUM	ENT4				
	1.	THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED MR. JACKSON'S RIGHT TO A PUBLIC TRIAL BY CONDUCTING FOR-CAUSE AND PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES IN A PRIVATE BENCH CONFERENCE				
		The federal and state constitutions provide parties the right to a public trial and also guarantee public access to court proceedings				
		b. Washington courts apply a five-part test when addressing a request for full or temporary closure of a trial6				
		c. The trial court conducted cause and peremptory challenges in a private bench conference, off the record, without making specific findings or employing the required five-part Bone-Club test				
		d. Reversal is required12				
	2.	THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED MR. JACKSON'S RIGHT TO BE PRESENT AT ALL CRITICAL STAGES BY CONDUCTING FOR-CAUSE AND PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES AT A PRIVATE BENCH CONFERENCE				
Ε.	CONCLU	ISION				

## **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

## **Washington Supreme Court**

Federated Publications Inc. v. Kurtz, 94 Wn.2d 51, 615 P.2d 440 (1980)
<u>Seattle Times Co. v. Ishikawa,</u> 97 Wn.2d 30, 640 P.2d 716 (1982) 5
<u>State v. Bone-Club</u> , 128 Wn.2d 254, 906 P.2d 629 (1995) 1, 5, 6, 12, 13
<u>State v. Brightman</u> , 155 Wn.2d 506, 122 P.3d 150 (2005)
<u>State v. Coe</u> , 101 Wn.2d 364, 679 P.2d 353 (1984)4
State v. Easterling, 157 Wn.2d 167, 137 P.3d 825 (2006)4, 6, 12
<u>State v. Irby</u> , 170 Wn.2d 874, 246 P.3d 796 (2011) 13, 14, 15, 16, 17
<u>State v. Lormor</u> , 172 Wn.2d 85, 57 P.3d 624 (2011)8
State v. Momah, 167 Wn.2d 140, 217 P.3d 321 (2009)
<u>State v. Orange</u> , 152 Wn.2d 795, 100 P.3d 291 (2004)8
State v. Strode, 167 Wn.2d 222, 217 P.3d 310 (2009)6, 7, 13
<u>State v. Wise,</u> 176 Wn.2d 1, 288 P.3d 1113 (2012)5
Washington Court of Appeals
State v. Heath, 150 Wn. App. 121, 206 P.3d 712 (2009)8
State v. Leyerle, 158 Wn. App. 474, 242 P.3d 921 (2010)12
<u>State v. Paumier</u> , 155 Wn. App. 673, 230 P.3d 212, <u>review granted</u> , 169 Wn 2d 1017 (2010)

<u>State v. Slert</u> , 169 Wn. App. 766, 282 P.3d 101 (2012), <u>review</u> granted, 299 P.3d 20 (2013)						
<u>State v. Vreen, 99 Wn. App. 662, 994 P.2d 905 (2000), aff'd, 143 Wn.2d 923, 26 P.3d 236 (2001)9</u>						
State v. Wilson, 174 Wn. App. 328, 298 P.3d 148, 156 (2013)9						
United States Supreme Court						
Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S. Ct. 1712, 90 L.Ed.2d 69 (1986)						
<u>Craig v. Harney</u> , 331 U.S. 367, 67 S.Ct. 1249, 91 L.Ed.2d 1546 (1947)						
<u>Diaz v. United States</u> , 223 U.S. 442, 32 S. Ct. 250, 56 L.Ed. 500 (1912)						
<u>In re Oliver</u> , 333 U.S. 257, 68 S.Ct. 499, 92 L.Ed. 682 (1948)6						
<u>Gomez v. United States</u> , 490 U.S. 858, 109 S. Ct. 2237, 104 L.Ed.2d 923 (1989)14, 15						
<u>Globe Newspaper Co. v. Superior Court,</u> 457 U.S. 596, 102 S.Ct. 2613, 73 L.Ed.2d 248 (1982)						
<u>Lewis v. United States</u> , 146 U.S. 370, 13 S. Ct. 136, 36 L.Ed. 1011 (1892)						
<u>Malloy v. Hogan,</u> 378 U.S. 1, 84 S. Ct. 1489, 12 L.Ed.2d 653 (1964)						
<u>Presley v. Georgia</u> , 558 U.S. 209, 130 S. Ct. 721, 175 L.Ed.2d 675 (2010)						
<u>Richmond Newspapers, Inc. v. Virginia,</u> 448 U.S. 555, 100 S.Ct. 2814, 65 L.Ed.2d 973 (1980)						

<u>Snyder v. Massachusetts</u> . 291 U.S. 97, 54 S. Ct. 330, 78 L.Ed. 674 (1934)						
<u>Waller v. Georgia</u> , 467 U.S. 39, 104 S.Ct. 2210, 81 L.Ed.2d 31 (1984)						
Washington Constitution						
Article I, section 105						
Article I, section 225						
United States Constitution						
U.S. Const. Amend. V, VI, XIV13						
Other Authorities						
<u>Commonwealth v. Owens</u> , 414 Mass. 595, 609 N.E.2d 1208 (1993)						
People v. Harris, 10 Cal.App.4th 672, 12 Cal.Rptr.2d 758 (1992)9						
People v. Williams, 858 N.Y.S.2d 147, 52 A.D.3d 94 (2008)15						

#### A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

- 1. The trial court violated Mr. Jackson's constitutional right to a public trial by taking for-cause and peremptory challenges during a private bench conference, which was also unreported.
- 2. The trial court violated Mr. Jackson's constitutional right to be present at all critical stages of trial.

#### B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The right of the accused to a public trial may only be restricted in the most unusual of circumstances, and if so, after a trial court considers the Bone-Club¹ factors and finds it necessary. Voir dire is a critical stage of trial that must be open to the public. During jury selection, the court called the parties to a private bench conference without analysis or opportunity for objection, at which private proceeding the parties apparently made juror-specific challenges. The proceeding was not recorded. Because the trial court did not make any Bone-Club assessment or findings before conducting this important portion of jury selection in private, did the court violate Mr. Jackson's constitutional right to a public trial?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> State v. Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d 254, 906 P.2d 629 (1995).

2. An accused has a fundamental right to be present at all critical stages of a trial, including voir dire and the empanelling of the jury. Did Mr. Jackson's absence from the bench conference during which his jury was selected violate his constitutional right to be present at all critical stages of trial?

#### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Verne Jackson, a man in his fifties, well-liked by his friends and neighbors, had not been in trouble since he was a teenager.

11/28/12 RP 95-101.<sup>2</sup> He kept to himself, did odd jobs, and occasionally babysat for the children of friends and neighbors.

10/18/12 RP 22-23.

On New Year's Eve of 2009, Mr. Jackson babysat for the four year-old son of a neighbor, Jalynn Gunter. 10/17/12 RP 12-15. On the morning after, the child, K.G.S., complained to his mother that he was very hungry, that Mr. Jackson had not let him eat the food that Jalynn had packed for him, and that he never wanted to go back to Mr. Jackson's house for babysitting again. <u>Id</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The verbatim report of trial proceedings are referred to by date, <u>i.e.</u>: 10/16/12 RP \_\_\_. The voir dire proceedings are referred to as 2RP. Other than a dismissed deferred disposition from 1978, Mr. Jackson had no criminal history. 11/28/12 RP 101; CP 44.

More than a year later, in May 2011, K.G.S. grabbed his step-father Kenneth's penis while his stepfather was relieving himself in the kitchen sink. 10/17/12 RP 43-47, 51-53, 62-63. Kenneth stated that he was very shocked and upset, and instantly "whacked" the child's hand away from him, telling K.G.S. that this type of touching was inappropriate. <u>Id</u>. at 62-63. At this time, K.G.S. told his stepfather that "Verne" had made him do the same thing. Id.

After CPS was notified, K.G.S. was interviewed on May 16, 2011; the child made additional allegations against "Verne," which CPS concluded referred to New Year's Eve of 2009. 10/17/12 RP 84-87. K.G.S. added a new claim that Mr. Jackson had made the child "suck his weiner." 10/16/12 RP 33-34. Mr. Jackson was charged with one count of rape of a child in the first degree and one count of child molestation in the first degree. CP 1-2.

At trial, the judge pro tem conducted the for-cause and peremptory challenges in a bench conference, which was unreported. 2RP 133-34. The judge ordered the jury venire to sit in the back of the courtroom, as "we actually know what we're doing, so we're going to ask you to just sit there, and when we're done,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Stepfather Kenneth Nemeyer admitted that since the only facilities were upstairs, he frequently chose to relieve himself in the kitchen sink, particularly when drinking beer, which he and eye-witness Ramsay Rush did daily, and "downed [] like it was water." 10/17/12 RP 49.

we'll announce who the jury is." 2RP 133. There is no record of what transpired – no record of which potential jurors were challenged or for what reasons, since the transcript indicates that the challenges took place during an unreported "conference" amongst counsels only. 2RP 134. Mr. Jackson was not present for the bench conference at which his jury was selected. <u>Id</u>.

The subsequently-seated jury convicted Mr. Jackson as charged. CP 33-34. Mr. Jackson appeals. CP 58-71.

#### D. ARGUMENT

- 1. THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED MR. JACKSON'S RIGHT TO A PUBLIC TRIAL BY CONDUCTING FOR-CAUSE AND PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES IN A PRIVATE BENCH CONFERENCE.
- a. The federal and state constitutions provide parties the right to a public trial and also guarantee public access to court proceedings. Public trials are a hallmark of the Anglo-American justice system. Globe Newspaper Co. v. Superior Court, 457 U.S. 596, 605, 102 S.Ct. 2613, 73 L.Ed.2d 248 (1982); Richmond Newspapers, Inc. v. Virginia, 448 U.S. 555, 564-73, 100 S.Ct. 2814, 65 L.Ed.2d 973 (1980); State v. Coe, 101 Wn.2d 364, 380, 679 P.2d 353 (1984), quoting Craig v. Harney, 331 U.S. 367, 374, 67 S.Ct. 1249, 91 L.Ed.2d 1546 (1947).

In the criminal context, the Sixth Amendment<sup>4</sup> to the federal constitution and article I, section 22<sup>5</sup> of the Washington Constitution quarantee an accused the right to a public trial. Presley v. Georgia, 558 U.S. 209, 130 S. Ct. 721, 724, 175 L. Ed. 2d 675 (2010); State v. Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d 254, 261-62, 906 P.2d 629 (1995). Likewise, Article I, section 10 recognizes that the public has a vital interest in access to the court system: "Justice in all cases shall be administered openly, and without unnecessary delay." This clear constitutional provision entitles the public and the press to openly administered justice. Seattle Times Co. v. Ishikawa, 97 Wn.2d 30, 36, 640 P.2d 716 (1982); Federated Publications Inc. v. Kurtz, 94 Wn.2d 51, 59-60, 615 P.2d 440 (1980).<sup>6</sup> The First Amendment's guarantees of free speech and a free press also protect the right of the public to attend trials. Globe Newspaper, 457 U.S. at 603-05; Richmond Newspapers, 448 U.S at 580 (plurality).

Although a defendant's right to a public trial and the public's right to open access to the court system are different, they serve

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Sixth Amendment provides, "In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial . . ."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Article I, section 22 also guarantees "[i]n criminal prosecutions, the accused shall have the right to . . . a speedy public trial."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Our Supreme Court recently noted that article 1, section 22, with its requirement of speedy and open justice, has no exact parallel in the federal constitution. State v. Wise, 176 Wn.2d 1, 9 n.2, 288 P.3d 1113 (2012).

"complementary and interdependent functions in assuring the fairness of our judicial system." Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d at 259.

The requirement of a public trial is for the benefit of the accused; that the public may see he is fairly dealt with and not unjustly condemned, and that the presence of interested spectators may keep his triers keenly alive to a sense of their responsibility and to the importance of their functions.

<u>Id</u>., quoting <u>In re Oliver</u>, 333 U.S. 257, 270 n.25, 68 S.Ct. 499, 92 L.Ed. 682 (1948).

Whether a trial court procedure violates the right to a public trial is a question of law that is reviewed de novo. State v.

Easterling, 157 Wn.2d 167, 174, 137 P.3d 825 (2006); Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d at 256. State v. Strode, 167 Wn.2d 222, 229-30, 217 P.3d 310 (2009) (holding the defendant cannot waive the public's right to open proceedings).

b. Washington courts apply a five-part test when addressing a request for full or temporary exclusion of the public from a trial. In order to protect the accused's constitutional right to a public trial:

a trial court <u>may not</u> close a courtroom without, first, applying and weighing five requirements as set forth in <u>Bone-Club</u> and, second, entering specific findings justifying the closure order.

Easterling, 157 Wn.2d at 175 (emphasis added).

The constitutional right to a public trial is not waived by counsel's failure to object. <u>Id</u>. at 176 n.8 ("explicitly" holding "a defendant does not waive his right to appeal an improper closure by failing to lodge a contemporaneous objection."); <u>State v. Brightman</u>, 155 Wn.2d 506, 514-15, 122 P.3d 150 (2005); <u>Strode</u>, 167 Wn.2d at 229-30; <u>Bone-Club</u>, 128 Wn.2d at 257.

The presumption of openness may be overcome only by a finding that closure is necessary to "preserve higher values" and the closure must be narrowly tailored to serve that interest. Waller v. Georgia, 467 U.S. 39, 45, 104 S.Ct. 2210, 81 L.Ed.2d 31 (1984), citing Press-Enterprise I, 464 U.S. at 510. Moreover, the trial court must enter specific findings identifying the interest so that a reviewing court may determine if the closure was proper. Id.

In Washington, a court faced with a request for closure must perform a test based upon the five criteria adopted in <u>Bone-Club</u> and Ishikawa. Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d at 259-60.<sup>8</sup> Although it is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> This case is distinguishable from <u>State v. Momah</u>, in which the courtroom closure was suggested by defense counsel, and in which the closure was promoted to protect Momah's other constitutional rights, such as to an impartial jury. 167 Wn.2d 140, 151-52, 217 P.3d 321 (2009).

<sup>1.</sup> The proponent of closure or sealing must make some showing [of a compelling state interest], and where that need is based on a right other than an accused's right to a fair trial, the proponent must show a "serious and imminent threat" to that right;

conceivable that a court might find circumstances exist to justify some form of courtroom closure, the factors justifying any such limitation of public access must be articulated with specificity. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>Presley</u>, 558 U.S. at 213-14; <u>State v. Lormor</u>, 172 Wn.2d 85, 91-92, 257 P.3d 624 (2011).

The accused's right to a public trial under both the federal and state constitutions applies to voir dire. Presley, 558 U.S. at 213-14; State v. Momah, 167 Wn.2d 140, 148, 217 P.3d 321 (2009); State v. Orange, 152 Wn.2d 795, 812, 100 P.3d 291 (2004). Washington courts have repeatedly held that jury selection conducted in chambers violates the right to public trial. See, e.g., Strode, 167 Wn.2d at 226-29 (Alexander, C.J., lead opinion); 167 Wn.2d at 231-36 (Fairhurst, J., concurring); State v. Paumier, 155 Wn. App. 673, 679, 685, 230 P.3d 212, review granted, 169 Wn.2d 1017 (2010); State v. Heath, 150 Wn. App. 121, 125-29, 206 P.3d 712 (2009).

Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d at 258-59, quoting Eikenberry, 121 Wn.2d at 210-11.

<sup>2.</sup> Anyone present when the closure motion is made must be given an opportunity to object to the closure.

<sup>3.</sup> The proposed method for curtailing open access must be the least restrictive means available for protecting the threatened interests;

<sup>4.</sup> The court must weigh the competing interests of the proponent of closure and the public;

<sup>5.</sup> The order must be no broader in its application or duration than necessary to serve its purpose.

Exercising peremptory challenges is a vital part of voir dire. See State v. Wilson, 174 Wn. App. 328, 343, 298 P.3d 148, 156 (2013) (observing that unlike hardship strikes made by clerk, "voir dire" involves trial court and counsel questioning prospective jurors to determine their ability to serve fairly and to enable counsel to exercise informed challenges for cause and peremptory challenges); State v. Vreen, 99 Wn. App. 662, 668, 994 P.2d 905 (2000) (recognizing "it is the interplay of challenges for cause and peremptory challenges that assures the fair and impartial jury"), aff'd, 143 Wn.2d 923 (2001); People v. Harris, 10 Cal.App.4th 672, 684, 12 Cal.Rptr.2d 758 (Cal. App. 1992) (exercising peremptory challenges in chambers, "tracking" them on paper, and then announcing in open court the names of the stricken prospective jurors, violated federal and state public trial rights, even where such proceedings were reported).9 Because the peremptory challenge process is an integral part of voir dire, the constitutional public trial right also extends to that portion of criminal proceedings.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Unlike in <u>Harris</u>, the peremptory challenges in Mr. Jackson's case were not reported.

challenges in a private bench conference, off the record, without making specific findings or employing the required five-part *Bone-Club* test. The trial court here effectively closed the courtroom when it conducted for-cause and peremptory challenges at the bench, in the absence of oral or written findings explaining the need for such a procedure, or any apparent analysis of the rights and interests at stake or the alternatives available. 2RP 133-34.

The report of proceedings from voir dire appears as follows:

COURT: All right. Well, thank you. That ends the

voir dire. We are now going to go through the selection of a jury, and for those of you who have not been in this process before, there's just no – it seems like chaos, but we actually know what we're doing, so we're going to ask you to just sit there, and when we're done, we'll announce who the jury is. There – there's no good re – way to do

this so.

(Sidebar; not recorded.)

(Jury panel members sit quietly.)

COURT: (To the clerk.) Oh, and Madam Clerk,

we have two alternates.

CLERK: What's that?

COURT: We have two alternates.

CLERK: Oh, okay.

(Counsels complete conference.)

COURT: Thank you for your patience. If there

was no graceful way to do the last portion of what we just finished, this one is even more ungraceful. In fact, Mr. Bailiff, I'm going to do something totally unusual. I'm going to take all the jurors and have them sit in the back, and then just call them back up again, because –

BAILIFF: That works very well.

COURT: -- because there's big gaps here. So if

you'd all just take a seat anywhere in the back, and I'll just call your name.

BAILIFF: Two alternates?

COURT: (To Bailiff.) Two alternates.

2RP 133-34 [court calls names and fills in box with petit jury that has been chosen during "conference"].

By requiring counsel to exercise cause and peremptory challenges at the bench, the trial court violated Mr. Jackson's right to a public trial to the same extent any in-chambers conference or other courtroom closure would have. Even though the bench conference occurred in an otherwise open courtroom, it by definition occurred privately, outside the public's scrutinizing eyes and ears, and thus violated Mr. Jackson's right to a fair and public trial. State

v. Slert, 169 Wn. App. 766, 774 n. 11, 282 P.3d 101 (2012) (rejecting argument that no violation occurred if jurors were dismissed at sidebar rather than in chambers because private discussion would have involved dismissal for case-specific reasons, thereby calling for public review), review granted, 299 P.3d 20 (2013); State v. Leyerle, 158 Wn. App. 474, 483, 242 P.3d 921 (2010) (questioning juror in public hallway outside courtroom is a closure despite the fact courtroom remained open to public). By failing to first apply the Bone-Club factors before hearing the peremptory challenges at the bench, the trial court violated Mr. Jackson's constitutional right to a public trial.<sup>10</sup>

d. Reversal is required. The remedy for a violation of the public's right of access is remand for a new trial. Easterling, 157 Wn.2d at 179-80. In Easterling, the court rejected the possibility that a courtroom closure may be de minimus, even for a limited closure. 157 Wn.2d at 180 ("a majority of this court has never found a public trial right violation to be de minimus."). Where a portion of the proceedings are fully closed to the public, the closure is not trivial or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The jury trial minutes have been designated; however, they are of little value. The minutes do not indicate whether there were for-cause challenges, which jurors were challenged peremptorily, by which counsel, or who was present at the bench conference. CP \_\_\_\_, Jury Trial Minutes, Oct. 16, 2012.

subject to harmless error analysis and requires reversal. <u>Id</u>. at 174, 180-81.

Because of the court's violation of Mr. Jackson's right to a public trial constitutes structural error, prejudice is presumed and reversal is required. <u>Strode</u>, 167 Wn.2d at 231; <u>Bone-Club</u>, 128 Wn.2d at 257.

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