**NO. 44279-5-II**

**IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF  
WASHINGTON,**

**DIVISION II**

---

**STATE OF WASHINGTON,**

**Respondent,**

**vs.**

**VERNE L. JACKSON,**

**Appellant.**

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

**AMIE HUNTER  
WSBA # 31375  
Deputy Prosecutor  
for Respondent**

**Hall of Justice  
312 SW First  
Kelso, WA 98626  
(360) 577-3080**

**

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

## V. ARGUMENT

### I. The Trial Court Did Not Violate the Appellant's Right to a Public Trial nor Public's Open Trial Right.

The appellant argues the trial court violated the Defendant's right to a public trial and the public's trial right when it conducted for-cause and peremptory challenges at a sidebar. The appellant alleges this practice violated Article 1, section 22 of the Washington constitution as well as the Sixth Amendment of the United States constitution. However, the practice complained of did not amount to a closure of the courtroom, dealt only with legal issues, and acquiesced to by the appellant. As such, this Court should reject any claim of error.

#### a. Engaging in a Sidebar Conference Does Not Constitute a "Closure" of the Courtroom.

The State disputes the appellant's claim that the courtroom was closed by the trial judge and the attorneys stepping to the bench to conduct legal argument out of the hearing of the jury and silently conducting peremptory challenges at the clerk's bench. Instead, this was merely a form of sidebar conference, while the actual courtroom remained open to

the public. If there was no closure of the courtroom, the cases cited by the appellant have no application.

The question of whether a defendant's right to a public trial or the public's right is violated is an issue reviewed de novo on appeal. State v. Wilson, 174 Wn.App. 328, 354, 296 P.3d 148 (Div 2, 2013). Moreover, it is the defendant's burden to prove a violation. State v. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d 58, 75, 292 P.3d 715 (2012). There is a three step process to determine whether there is a violation of the public trial right or defendant's right to a public trial.

First, "Was the courtroom closed?" Second, consider "whether the proceeding at issue implicated that public trial right, thereby constituting a closure at all." State v. Wilson, 174 Wn.App. 328, 335 citing State v. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d 58, 71, 292 P.3d 715 (2012). "Not every interaction between the court, counsel, and defendants will implicate the right to a public trial, or constitute a closure if closed to the public." Id. Additionally, a defendant does not, "have a right to a public hearing on purely ministerial or legal issues that do not require the resolution of disputed facts." State v. Sadler, 147 Wn.App. 97, 114, 193 P.3d 1108 (Div 2, 2008). Upon the inquiry of whether there is a public trial right, a court should ask, "[d]oes the proceeding fall within a specific category of trial proceedings that our Supreme Court has already established

implicates the public trial right? Lastly, if the proceeding does not fall within such a specific category, does the proceeding satisfy Sublett's 'experience and logic' test?" Id.

In State v. Gregory, 158 Wn.2d 759, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006), the Supreme Court noted there was a distinction between full closures of a courtroom, which require an analysis under State v. Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d 254, 900 P.2d 235 (1995), and acts by the trial court that do not amount to a full closure. The court held that because the action at issue, the exclusion of one person from the courtroom, was not a full closure, Bone-Club did not apply and the defendant's right to a public trial was not violated. Gregory, 158 Wn.2d at 816.

Additionally, a closure of the courtroom occurs when the public does not have access to the room in which the proceedings occur. State v. Wise, 176 Wn.2d 1, 12, 288 P.3d 1113 (2012). It does not matter if the court removes the proceedings to another location or the public is removed from the room, it is the removal that makes it a closure. Id., State v. Leyle, 158 Wn.App. 474, 483, 242 P.3d 921 (Div 2, 2010). The Defendant does not cite to any authority for the proposition that actions occurring inside the open courtroom in full view of the public, but without running commentary constitute closures. As such, the defendant fails to meet his burden that a closure occurred.

**b. Under the experience and logic test, a sidebar conference for juror challenges is not a violation of the public trial right.**

It is well-settled that parts of the jury selection process implicate the public trial right. *Id.* citing to State v. Wise, 176 Wn.2d 1, 11, 288 P.3d 1113, State v. Momah, 167 Wn.2d 140, 217 P.3d 321 (2009), State v. Strode, 167 Wn.2d 222, 227, 232, 217 P.3d 310 (2009), State v. Paumier, 176 Wn.2d 29, 34-35, 288 P.3d 1126. However, not every part of the jury selection process implicates a public right and whether a right attaches to a proceeding is not dependent on the label given to the proceeding. *Id.* State v. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d 58, 72-73, 292 P.3d 715 (2012). In State v. Wilson, 174 Wn.App 328, Division Two declared the pre-selection excusal of potential jurors did not implicate the defendant's public trial right as it did not meet the experience and logic test.

The experience and logic test is helpful because it allows the court to consider "the actual proceeding at issue for what it is, without having to force every situation into predefined factors." Sublett at 73. In Wilson, the court determined there were no cases holding preliminary juror excusals were historically open to the public, nor that the right attached prior to voir dire. Wilson at 342. Moreover, the preliminary excusals were not so similar to the trial as to attach the same rights. *Id.* at 245. Lastly, that the defendant's right to be present was not absolute, his

presence would be useless or of little benefit, and it did not relate to his opportunity to defend against the charge. Id. at 348-349. Wilson opens up the possibility that not every part of voir dire implicates the public trial right. While the opinion does distinguish preliminary excusals from for-cause and peremptory challenges, the court's analysis did not consider the questions presented today. Wilson does create a stepping stone to a case directly on point.

Division Three has directly decided the issue at hand. In State v. Love, Nos. 30809-0-III, 308103-III, 2013 WL 5406434, \*3 (Div 3, September 24, 2013), the trial judge invited the attorneys to the bench to discuss challenges for cause at the end of voir dire. Defense counsel struck two jurors for cause and the parties assented to the trial judge's suggestion to two alternates. Id. At that point, the transcript indicated "(Peremptory challenge process is being conducted.\*)" and the record of jurors showed who made peremptory challenges. Id. However, there was no other record of the proceedings for peremptory challenges. Id.

Division Three used the experience and logic test outlined in Sublett. Division Three assumed a courtroom closure, leaving the issue of whether such sidebars done in open court are closures for another day. Id. \*4. Instead, Division Three found there was no authority suggesting that challenges for cause are normally made in public and challenges typically

present solely a legal issue. Id. Moreover, peremptory challenges were not historically made public. Id. \*4-5. Division Three went back to the 1976 case of State v. Thomas, 16 Wn. App 1, 553 P.2d 1357 (Div 1, 1976), for the position that peremptory challenges are often conducted in private and there was no prejudice to the defendant. Id., State v. Thomas, 16 Wn. App 1, 13. As such, the history confirmed there was little evidence of the public exercise of challenges and some evidence they are conducted privately. Id. \*5.

Mr. Love's challenge also failed under the logic test. Division Three found the purpose of the public trial right "to ensure a fair trial, remind the officers of the court of the importance of their functions and to encourage witnesses to come forward and discourage perjury" were not served by public challenges. Id. The court found peremptory challenges presented no question of public oversight and for-cause challenged presented issues of law for the judge to decide. Id. The court relied on the presence of a written record to satisfy the public interest and ruled the record need not be in public earshot. The court ultimately found Mr. Love did not meet his burden and the sidebar did not close the courtroom. Id.

In the present case, the parties went to the bench to present for-cause challenges. The factual basis for any challenge was elicited in open court and was recorded. 2RP 54-55, 100, 128-29. It appears from the

facts the challenges were made by the defendant as those jurors were biased toward the State because of the nature of the charges. The challenges were recorded on the Juror struck list and any decision by the court was a legal one. Under the authority of State v. Love, the defendant fails under both the experience and the logic prong. These challenges are not historically ones done in open court, and public challenges do not assist in the public trial right.

Moreover, in the present case the process adopted by the trial court for peremptory challenges served the values inherent in the constitutional provision for the open administration of justice. The record of peremptory challenges is important open administration of justice to assess whether there is a pattern of race-based challenges. See Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S.Ct. 1712, 90 L.Ed.2d 69 (1986); State v. Sadler, 147 Wn.App. 97, 114-118, 193 P.3d 1108 (Div 2, 2008). Peremptory challenges are generally left to the discretion of the attorney making the challenge, unless there is a pattern of racial motivation to the challenges. State v. Vreen, 99 Wn. App. 662, 669, 994 P.2d 905 (Div 3, 2000). When a Batson challenge is made, a court must make a factual determination if there is a racially motivated basis for such challenge. Because there is a factual determination, courts have held that Batson hearings must be open to the public. Sadler, 147 Wn.App. 97, 115. However, when there is no

Batson challenge, and when a record is made about how the peremptory challenges were exercised, the openness required for a public trial is met.

Lastly, the Defendant cites to State v. Irby, 170 Wn.2d 874, 246 P.3d 796 (2011), for the position Jackson was denied his right to be present at a critical stage in the proceeding. See App Brf at 13-16. In Irby, the parties discussed juror questionnaires and cause challenges over email, outside the defendant's presence. Id. at 877-78. The court focused on the defendant's right to consult with counsel about the for cause challenges in distinguishing the email conference from a sidebar. Id. at 882-83. The court was particularly swayed because Irby did not have the opportunity to give advice or suggestions to his lawyers. Id. at 883.

In State v. Slert, 169 Wn.App. 766, 774-75, the trial court held part of voir dire in the judge's chambers to review the jury's answers to questionnaires and dismiss jurors for cause. Neither the defendant nor public were allowed access. Id. at 774. The court found because the dismissals were held outside the presence of the courtroom, there was a closure of the court at a critical stage of the proceeding. Id. at 774-75. Division Two noted in determining whether Slert had a right to be present that there was no record the defendant had the opportunity to consult with counsel before agreeing to the dismissals. Id. at 775.



Mr. Jackson argues he was not present for part of the jury selection and under Irby this is a violation of his right to a public trial. There is no authority cited by the Defendant that the failure to stand next to counsel during all stages constitutes a lack of presence on his part or that constitutes a closure. The record shows Mr. Jackson was present for all the proceedings in open court. Most important, Jackson listened to the entire questioning of the jury panel, sat next to counsel during the State's voir dire and had the opportunity to consult with counsel at every stage prior to the sidebar. Under State v. Slert, 169 Wn.App. 766, 775, 282 P.3d 101 (Div 2, 2012) and State v. Irby 170 Wn.2d 874, 246 P.3d 796 (2011), because Jackson had the opportunity (whether he used it or not), he was not denied his right to a public trial. Additionally, since there was no decision-making by the judge nor contested issues involving the peremptory challenges it was not a critical stage of the proceedings.<sup>3</sup>

Given these authorities, the Court should find that the sidebar conferences at issue do not amount to an actual closure of the courtroom. There is no authority to support a claim that a sidebar between the judge and attorneys, which cannot be heard by the jury or the public, violates the

---

<sup>3</sup> A defendant does not have a constitutional right to peremptory challenges. State v. Vreen, 99 Wn.App. 662, 668, 994 P.2d 905 (Div 3, 2000) citing Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 98, 106 S.Ct 1712, State v. Persinger, 62 Wnn.2d 362, 365-66, 382 P.2d 497 (1963). Even though these rights are important, there is nothing bestowing a defendant anything other than the opportunity to use the challenges. Id. It is the denial of the opportunity that constitutes reversible error. Id.

right to a public trial. This Court should find the courtroom was not closed and there was no violation of the right to a public trial.

Should the court consider the defendant's absence from the sidebar as a violation of his right to be present, the violation is subject to a harmless error analysis. See State v. Irby, 170 Wn.2d 874, 885-86 (2011). In Irby, the court determined that because Irby did not have the right to listen and question their statements, the State could not show the removal of the potential jurors had no effect on the verdict. Id. at 886.

Unlike Irby, Jackson heard all the answers by the jurors. He was present to give comment to counsel about their suitability to act as jurors, and the record supports it was the defense that struck the two jurors for cause in the sidebar. 2RP 54-55, 100, 128-29, Video of Proceedings. There is nothing to think, had Jackson been standing next to counsel, the verdict would have been different.

**c. The Sidebar Conferences at Issue Were Purely Legal, and Do Not Implicate the Right to a Public Trial.**

The Washington Supreme Court has held that where a courtroom is closed during significant portions of trial, the constitutional right to a public trial is violated. In State v. Marsh, 126 Wn. 142, 145, 217 P. 705 (1923), the superior court, among other irregularities, closed the entire proceeding to the public. In State v. Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d 254, 256-57,

906 P.2d 325 (1995), the trial court summarily granted the State's request to clear the courtroom for the pretrial testimony of an undercover detective. In State v. Brightman, 155 Wn.2d 506, 511, 122 P.3d 150 (2005), the trial court ordered that the courtroom be closed for the entire 2 ½ days of voir dire, excluding the defendant's family and friends. In In re Pers. Restraint of Orange, 152 Wn.2d 795, 100 P.3d 291 (2004), the trial court summarily ordered the defendant's family and friends excluded from *all* voir dire proceedings. And, in State v. Easterling, 157 Wn.2d 167, 172-73, 137 P.3d 825 (2006), the trial court ordered the defendant and his attorney excluded from pretrial motions regarding the co-defendant.

More recently, in State v. Strode, 167 Wn.2d 222, 217 P.3d 310 (2009), the court held that private questioning of a subset of jurors violated the right to a public trial where the court failed to balance the Bone-Club factors before holding voir dire in chambers. In State v. Momah, 167 Wn.2d 140, 217 P.3d 321 (2009), the court held that, even if there was error in conducting a portion of the voir dire outside the courtroom, the defendant had invited the error by his conduct, so he was not entitled to a new trial.

However, unlike the procedures at issue in those cases, the brief sidebar conferences in the instant case are not "proceedings" that implicate the right to a public trial. In the cases cited above, all or part of an

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